Université de Lausanne

Travaux de Science Politique Political Science Working Paper Series

Substituting risk for uncertainty

Where are the limits and how to face them?

Sylvain Maechler, Etienne Furrer, Emma Sofia Lunghi, Marc Monthoux, Céline Yousefzai, Jean-Christophe Graz

N° 73 (2019)

Editeur responsable Dr. Lionel Marquis

Université de Lausanne Institut d'Etudes Politiques Bâtiment Géopolis • 1015 Lausanne CH – Switzerland

> Tel +41 21 692 31 40 Fax +41 21 692 31 45 nicole.ferrari@unil.ch http://www.unil.ch/iep

CRHIM

(Centre d'histoire internationale et d'études politiques de la mondialisation)

La collection **Les Cahiers de l'IEP** vise à diffuser des travaux de chercheuses et chercheurs rattachés à l'Institut d'Etudes Politiques (IEP) de l'Université de Lausanne. Il peut s'agir de textes en prépublication, de communications scientifiques ou d'excellents mémoires d'étudiants. Ces travaux sont publiés sur la base d'une évaluation interne. Les opinions émises n'engagent cependant que la responsabilité de l'auteur•e.

Les Cahiers de l'IEP sont accessibles gratuitement sur www.unil.ch/iep (suivre le lien « Publications »).

The **IEP Working Papers Series** is intended to promote the diffusion of work in progress, articles to be published and research findings by researchers of the Institute of Political Studies, University of Lausanne. The papers submitted are refereed by members of the Institute. The opinions expressed are those of the author(s) only.

The **IEP Working Papers** are available free of charge at www.unil.ch/iep (click on « Publications »).

© Sylvain Maechler, Etienne Furrer, Emma Sofia Lunghi, Marc Monthoux, Céline Yousefzai, Jean-Christophe Graz

Layout : Nicole Ferrari

Couverture : Unicom, Université de Lausanne

Pour citer ce dossier / To quote this issue :

Maechler, Sylvain, Etienne Furrer, Emma Sofia Lunghi, Marc Monthoux, Céline Yousefzai and Jean-Christophe Graz (2019). "Substituting risk for uncertainty. Where are the limits and how to face them?", *Les Cahiers de l'IEP* n°73.

Substituting risk for uncertainty Where are the limits and how to face them?

Sylvain Maechler¹, Etienne Furrer, Emma Sofia Lunghi, Marc Monthoux, Céline Yousefzai, Jean-Christophe Graz

Institut d'Etudes Politiques, Université de Lausanne

Résumé

Dans un monde confronté à des changements globaux, historiques et complexes, la gestion de l'incertitude est devenue une préoccupation majeure pour les acteurs politiques et scientifiques. La question qui quide cet article conceptuel est donc la suivante : pouvons-nous anticiper l'avenir, et si oui, comment ? Nous examinons ainsi les possibilités d'anticiper l'avenir en convertissant des incertitudes indéfinies en risques supposément gérables. Pour ce faire, nous distinguons deux niveaux d'analyse dans le traitement de l'incertitude : l'épistémique de l'ontologique. Nous soutenons de ce fait qu'il existe à la fois des limites épistémiques et ontologiques dans la transformation de l'incertitude en risque. Cet argument s'appuie en particulier sur la distinction établie par Frank H. Knight (1921) entre risque et vraie incertitude. Mais contrairement à Knight qui se fie au jugement des experts pour surmonter les limites épistémiques, nous considérons que l'avenir ne peut être pleinement anticipé par la production continue de nouvelles connaissances. Néanmoins, nous affirmons que nous sommes mieux armés pour faire face à un avenir incertain grâce une coproduction de connaissances par un plus grand nombre d'acteurs. Les incertitudes découlant de la crise écologique actuelle sont mobilisées tout au long de l'article pour illustrer ces différents arguments.

Mots-clefs : crise écologique, Frank H. Knight, incertitude, pluralisation des connaissances, risque

Abstract

Dealing with uncertainty has become a matter of great concern of policy makers and scientific research in a world facing global, epochal and complex changes. Such call for a comprehensive understanding of the implications of uncertainties lead to the broader question of: can we anticipate the future, and if so, how? This conceptual paper explores the ability to anticipate the future by converting undefined uncertainties into manageable risks. To do so, we distinguish between epistemic and ontological level of analysis, to argue that there are both epistemic and ontological limits in the substitution of risk for uncertainty. We build in particular on the distinction drawn by Frank H. Knight (1921) between risk and *true uncertainty* to put forward such limits. Yet, in contrast to Knight who relies on expert judgment to overcome the epistemic limits, we suggest that the future cannot be fully anticipated through the production of new knowledge. Notwithstanding, we contend that we are better armed to face an unknown future with a co-production of knowledge by a larger range of actors. We illustrate our argument with the uncertainties arising from the current global ecological crisis.

Keywords: ecological crisis, Frank H. Knight, pluralisation of knowledge, risk, uncertainty

¹ Corresponding author. PhD Student in Political Science. University of Lausanne. Email: sylvain.maechler@unil.ch

Acknowledgements

This paper results from a collaborative work between teachers and students during the first year of their two-year MA in political science at the University of Lausanne. It provides a fruitful example of knowledge co-production, with both its benefits and limits.

All of us had the unique opportunity to present a first draft of the paper in a workshop on the conceptualisation of markets organised by Pascale Massot and Julian Gruin at the Centre for International Policy Studies at the University of Ottawa, Canada. We are grateful to them and to the participants for their questions and feedbacks. We would also like to thank the Institut d'Etudes Politique and the International Relations Office of the University of Lausanne for their financial support which made possible that all of us could attend the workshop.

We also would like to thank Oliver Kessler, Valérie Boisvert, François Allisson, Thomas David, Harro Maas, Yannick Perticone and Lucile Maertens for helpful comments, suggestions and criticisms on previous versions of this paper. And special thanks to Liesl Graz for her invaluable help with the language. All remaining errors are our own.

Contents

Résumé	
Abstract	
INTRODUCTION	6
WHERE IS THE LIMIT?	8
MAINSTREAM ECONOMICS	
HETERODOX APPROACHES	
THE ONTOLOGICAL LIMIT OF FRANK H. KNIGHT	12
HOW TO FACE THE LIMIT?	14
DEALING WITH KNIGHTIAN TRUE UNCERTAINTIES	14
BEYOND KNIGHTIAN EXPERTISE: PLURALISATION OF KNOWLEDGE	15
CONCLUSION	17
REFERENCES	18

Introduction

Understanding, calculating or 'taming' uncertainty has become a matter of great concern of policy makers and scientific research in a world facing global, epochal and complex changes. Against this background, a large range of scholarship rely on the assumption that uncertainty can somehow be transformed to known quantitative units of analysis. This is particularly true for environmental governance, with its attempt to develop complex knowledge infrastructures that reduce uncertainty as much as possible, in order to "generate, share, and maintain specific knowledge about the human and natural worlds" (Edwards, 2013, p. 17). Such a dominant mode of dealing with the future builds upon a specific instrumental rationality which attempts to respond to the systemic feature of risk in contemporary society (Beck, 1992). Indeed, capitalism has evolved in recent decades in such a way that risk "is now economically 'systemic, enveloping everyone'; and this is perhaps nowhere more apparent than in relation to nature and the risks ascribed to environmental transformation" (Levy, 2005; Christophers, 2018, pp. 331-332). Such a bid for a comprehensive understanding of the implications of risk and uncertainty lead to the broader question of: can we anticipate the future, and if so, how?

This paper explores how different approaches of relations between the economy, nature and society, conceive the possibility to anticipate the future by substituting risk for uncertainty. Risks are situations that can be defined with numbers, and in which future outcomes have known probabilities. In contrast, probabilities stay unknown in situations of uncertainty, so that uncertainty cannot be turned into a quantitative set of instances. A number of studies in mainstream economics have examined the characteristics of risk and/or uncertainty and disapprove such interpretation. While varying in many respects, mainstream economics sees the future as subject to a well-defined set of instances (Haavelmo, 1944; Friedman et al., 1948; Arrow, 1963; Akerlof, 1970; Reddy, 1996, p. 230). In this regard, the concept of uncertainty is often overlooked by this strand of scholarship in favour of risk. Heterodox economists scholars such as Dequech (2011) or Hodgson (2011, p. 160) note that the decline in the use of the concept of uncertainty, or in the distinction between risk and uncertainty, is mostly "related to the increasing mathematical formalization of economics, the particular emphasis on mathematical models that yield predictions". In a similar vein, Reddy (1996, p. 246) points out that "a view of uncertainty as calculable and probabilisable, in short as 'risk', gained favour in this century, as a result of the influence of the scientistic promise of calculation and control". For their part, heterodox approaches such as heterodox economics, economic sociology or international political economy (IPE) have doubts regarding the ability to turn anything at hand into a risk liable to being accounted in market terms (Callon et al., 2008; MacKenzie et al., 2008; Fourcade, 2011; Dequech, 2011; Katzenstein et al., 2018). Yet, by looking critically at how the world is made "more certain, controllable, and governable" (Deuchars, 2004, p. 2), they still often find ways to anticipate the future by substituting risk for uncertainty. In contrast, we argue that there are limits in the substitution of risk for uncertainty.

In order to understand such limits, we distinguish between epistemic and ontological levels of analysis. Davidson (1996) and Dequech (2004, p. 375) have also shown the "the strong entwinement of ontology and epistemology in the debate about uncertainty". Yet, they focused on the characteristics of uncertainty and not on the limits of its reduction into risk. Orléan (1987, p. 157) defines 'epistemic uncertainty' as a lack of rationality that links the anticipation of the future with the subjectivity of actors. Epistemic level of analysis thus relates to the production of knowledge and specialised expertise required to anticipate the future. At the ontological level of analysis, we focus on whether any kind of uncertain phenomenon that could occur in

the future world can be assessed in such a way as to make it less 'truly uncertain'. As Dequech points out, uncertainty is not only a matter of knowledge, but can also be "caused by, or described as, some properties of reality" (2004, p. 368). In our view, an ontological limit of substituting risk for uncertainty would exist if a distinct class of objects are defined as unfit for quantifiable probabilities and expectations about the future. In this case, the inability to turn uncertainty into a well-defined set of instances (or risk) is inferred from the nature of such and such real phenomena, rather than from the development of the apposite knowledge. It would be for instance the characteristics of complex ecosystems as such rather than modelling techniques that would put limits on risk management exercises related to biodiversity. We will see that existing theories diverge at both the epistemic and ontological levels of analysis when it comes to the ponder the limits in the substitution of risk for uncertainty.

We draw our argument from the theoretical framework of Frank H. Knight, an American economist from the 'old institutionalism' stream who lived between 1885 and 1970. He is remembered for the publication of *Risk, Uncertainty and Profit* in 1921. This book systematically distinguishes between risk, uncertainty, and true uncertainty in any attempt to make profits. The first two – risk and uncertainty – are subject to being numerically measured and anticipated with objective data. True uncertainty, for its part, cannot be turned into a calculus of statistical or probability measurement and cannot be fully objectified. Knight therefore contends that our capacity to grasp the future quantitatively is limited. He sees, however, ways to objectify the future using the specialised skills of entrepreneurs and experts (Knight, 1971, p. 223). In contrast to such a way to overcome the epistemic limit thanks to expert judgment, we suggest that the knowledge brought into play for anticipating the future will fail if not co-produced by a larger range of actors. Indeed, narrowing down uncertainty requires what Graz and Hauert (2019) call a "pluralisation of knowledge".

	No ontological limits	Ontological limits
No epistemic limits	Mainstream economics	Frank Knight
Epistemic limits	Heterodox approaches	Pluralisation of knowledge

Figure 1: Substitution of risk for uncertainty

The first section of the paper explores the limits – or their absence – in any attempt to substitute risk for uncertainty. To this end, we review the existing scholarship by distinguishing their epistemic and/or ontological stance regarding the existence of such limits (see the table above). We thus discuss the literature in mainstream economics, heterodox approaches, as well as Knight's legacy on the distinction between risk, uncertainty and true uncertainty. The second section examines how to face the previously identified limits. We draw on Knight's toolbox to reduce true uncertainty and suggest that the knowledge brought into play for anticipating the future is doomed to fail in case of true uncertainty. Against this background, we underline the need of a co-production of knowledge by a larger range of actors.

Where is the limit?

Mainstream economics

Is there no limit in the substitution of risk for uncertainty? This is what mainstream economics suggests, so much that the future can theoretically be fully anticipated. Through an "extraordinary faith in quantitative techniques" (Morgan, 1991, p. 1), mainstream economics sees no limits regarding the ontology of the marginal utility function enacted in the behaviour of rational individuals facing an uncertain future. Similarly, mainstream economics sees no epistemic limits in the possibility of economic theory to appraise individual preferences in such context by combining probabilistic calculus to marginal utility functions.

Mainstream economics often builds on utility-based methods to anticipate the future. As Skidelsky (2019) recently pointed out, such methods give "economics a unique predictive power, especially as the utilities can all be expressed and manipulated quantitatively". Expected-utility theory is an account of how to choose rationally in situation of uncertainty. It is based on the following basic motto: "choose the act with the highest expected utility" (Briggs, 2017). Expected-utility theory considers that there is no limit in the substitution of risk for uncertainty, since it rejects the "association between uncertainty and the absence of measurable probabilities" (Dequech, 2011, p. 625). This is precisely what suggests Von Neumann and Morgenstern (1944), who argue that all uncertainties can be transformed into welldefined objective risks. Expected-utility theory thus treats uncertainty as objective and probabilistic risk. In contrast, Savage theorem (1972) does not assume the existence of probabilities, but derive them from preferences. It leads Friedman and Savage (1948, p. 279) to argue that "an important class of reactions of individuals to risk can be rationalised by a rather simple extension of orthodox utility analysis". According to Savage theorem, risk is not objective anymore, but subjective. Dequech (2011, p. 625) points out that from the view point of a subjectivist, "the idea of objective probability does not make sense and all probabilities are subjective, by definition". Yet, both of these perspectives - subjective or objective risk - tend to the same conclusion: all uncertainties can in fact be reduced into risks.

Let's now see how environmental economists – a subfield of neoclassical economics established in the 1970s – apply these tools for reducing nature's related uncertainty. It is important, however, to take note of the distinction between 'environmental' and 'ecological' economics. The former – also called 'weak sustainability' – builds on mainstream concepts and notions to argue that the pursuit of economic growth remains possible despite environmental constraints, since so-called 'natural capital' – an extension of the economic notion of capital to natural resources – can be replaced by other forms of capital, such as human, technological or financial capital. The latter – 'strong sustainability' – considers the economic system as an open subsystem of the ecosphere. Such assumption leads ecological economics to point out the limited substitutability of 'critical natural capital' and the importance of its the long-term maintenance (Norgaard et al., 1998). Subsequently, we shall see that ecological economics differs in this regard, as it builds on interdisciplinary scholarship, including economic sociology, to set epistemic limits to the substitution of risk for uncertainty.

Environmental economists recognise that "ecosystems are so complex that people have a hard time figuring out exactly what they are, let alone working out their economic value" (Heide et al., 2018, pp. 210–211). Yet, they always find ways to reduce such complexity by quantifying it. Indeed, the application of economic theory to nature is based on the attribution of a price, an economic value on nature according

to the following motto: "we don't protect what we don't value" (Myers et al., 1997). Against this background, and in the absence of proper market for so-called 'environmental goods and services', different valuation techniques have been developed. They can rely on market proxies based on observed market behaviour (revealed preference), such as the so-called 'travel cost method' or 'hedonic price method'. Yet, these cannot calculate the uncertain 'non-use value' of nature, i.e. the "value of the environmental resource to the public at large that does not actively make use of the resource" (Maas et al., 2017, p. 318). This is the case of contingent valuation methods (stated preference) based on survey, in which "individuals are directly asked about their preferences" (Heide et al., 2018, p. 220) for environmental goods or services. These two methods – stated and revealed preference – are both based on the utility-based models mentioned above. The marginal utility function is used to determine a subjective price on uncertainty and transform it into measurable risk. Such a transformation is made possible because "economists presume that consumers use the concept of utility to compare all possible things that they can experience with one another" (Heide et al., 2018, p. 247). Against this background, mainstream economists often claim that every kind of situation can be rationally analysed and solved.

These valuation calculus allow for instance to put a price tag on 'environmental externalities', what Coase (1960, p. 1) defined as "actions of business firms which have harmful effects on others". Environmental externalities are thus "impacts arising from the activities of an entity that are borne by others and do not feedback directly into short-term financial consequences for the entity" (Unerman et al., 2018, p. 498). Environmental externalities can be positive or negative depending of the benefits enjoyed or the costs suffered by a third-party as a result of economic activities (Hussen, 2000). Pigou (1920, p. 159) was the first to explain why and how "disservices to other persons" are not compensated "on behalf of the injured parties". He thus clearly introduced "the distinction between private and social marginal costs and benefits as well as the concept of external effects" (Sandelin et al., 2008, p. 56). While studies differ regarding the ability of the market as such to internalise externalities, Coase's method (1960, p. 40) is still the most influential among mainstream economists. Coase considers externality as a private issue, which concerns only those economic actors who are directly involved in the transaction. In this regard, Coase's method suggests that externalities are the result of a property rights failure so that the optimal level of pollution can be achieved by an arbitrary assignment of property rights to either the polluter or the pollute.

Dealing with environmental externalities supports economic actors to decide how much and more importantly when they have the greatest financial interest to reduce (or internalise) these environmental impacts, so that the investment is the most profitable or cost-effective. Against this background, environmental cost-benefit analysis implies present known costs for unknown future benefits. In the wake of Arrow (2013), this requires putting a present value on costs and benefits occurring in the future. This relates to the much-debated question of the discount rate, which has, as Groom and his colleagues (2005, p. 445) point out, "always occupied an important place in environmental politics and economics". At the microeconomic level, it reflects the degree to which we prefer present benefits (money today) over future benefits (money in the future), what is commonly known as 'revealed time preference'. Such a preference needs to be connected with the 'opportunity cost', i.e., "how much an investment pays relative to other uses of the same resources" (Roberts, 2012).

In quite the same way, putting a price tag on nature helps to compare future benefits (or costs) against any action that an organization may take in the present. This means that these future costs and benefits have to be converted into a net present value. Such particular feature of uncertainty reduction in environmental economics has been popularised by William Nordhaus, laureate of the 2018 Nobel Memorial Prize in Economic Sciences. Nordhaus underlines that the key issue of environmental economics is "how to balance costs and benefits of global emissions reductions" (2007, p. 30). His calculations estimate how much the present generation should invest in limiting climate change. Many tools are available to economists to compare costs between different space and time. Every monetary assessment of nature makes such anticipations, but the discount rate can vary greatly, and, at the same time, the vision of the future in relation to the present. While life cycle assessment studies use a constant discount rate of 0% and thus value future generations equally to the present, environmental economists generally use a positive figure: they value the present more than the future². This implicitly means that we should not reduce our environmental impacts too quickly, because the costs will be higher if we invest today than in the future (Hickel, 2018).

To sum up, mainstream economics – including its subfield of environmental economics – takes into account neither epistemic nor ontological limits when discussing the ability of economic actors to substitute risks for uncertainty. A variety of tools based on price mechanisms support the substitution of risk for uncertainty, which often leads mainstream economics scholars to just "use the terms risk and uncertainty interchangeably" (Reddy, 1996, p. 230). Now that we have seen how mainstream economics literature is approaching the questions of risk and uncertainty, we do the same for heterodox approaches.

Heterodox approaches

We now continue with scholarship in heterodox economics, IPE and economic sociology of risk and uncertainty. Such strand of scholarship assumes to work with the concept of uncertainty in mind (Dequech, 2011), and is critical of the lack of epistemic limits. However, we argue that it often recognises no ontological limit in the substitution of risk for uncertainty.

From an IPE perspective, the question of risk reflects a particular power relationship between political and economic spheres across borders. As Deuchars (2004, p. 2016) points out, "risk is deeply implicated in how power is manifested in the world". A good starting case is provided by Nelson and Katzenstein's analysis of the 2008 financial crisis (2014). In their view, finance lies in the world of uncertainty rather than risk, as economics, calculative practices and standards cannot foresee disasters. However, they argue that actors can still rely on social conventions to take their decisions, thus substituting risk for uncertainty. Katzenstein and Seybert (2018) rely on the concept of 'protean power' to respond to situations marked by uncertainty, which is not something that social actors possess, but rather something the emerges in a world of uncertainty and possibility. For his part, Kessler (2008, p. 4) draws on Luhmann to examine how institutions "not only reduce but also reproduce uncertainty", leading to open-ended futures that make a "plurality of possible worlds" possible (2008, p. 17). Aradau and van Munster (2012) explore uncertainty through the lens of potential catastrophic events. Since such events cannot always be prevented, actors create new modes of knowledge and styles of reasoning to reduce uncertainty. Putting a great emphasis on the role of imagination and aesthetic sensorial experience, they still consider that modes of knowledge and practices can "act on an event that cannot be known" (2012, p. 2).

² Costanza and his colleagues did the first global monetary assessment of nature's value, i.e., ecosystem services: "the benefits human populations derive, directly or indirectly, from ecosystem functions" (Costanza et al., 1997, p. 253). The choice to fix the discount rate at 5% in order to convert stock values into annual flows was crucial to reach the final figure of US\$33 trillion/year. This is slightly more than Nordhaus' average 4.3% used in his modeling (Goulder et al., 2012, p. 13).

Scholars in both IPE and sociology often draw on Foucault to consider risk as a particular instrument of governmentality, therefore examining the performativity of discourses and the intrinsic dialectics between power and knowledge. With a particular focus on the role of insurance as securing so-called "liberal forms of life", Lobo-Guerrero emphasises the importance of the "strategisation of time", an abstraction process which "projects into a future the technological reality of the model fabricating the uncertainties of their own scheme" (2014, p. 366). From his point of view, knowledge on temporality allows pushing "the limits of insurability" (2014, p. 356) by elaboration of predictive models. In the same vein, Ericson and his colleagues view uncertainty as an object of governance insofar as "private insurance has come to constitute a vast behind-the-scenes system of informal governance" (2003, p. 226). Many other scholars have written about risks as a technology of power to improve crime prevention (O'Malley, 1992, 2003, 2008), as a way to settle down the welfare state (Ewald, 1986, 1996) or as an instrument to govern environmental risk (Gouldson et al., 2007). According to Foucauldian approaches, all risks are likely to be governed – and thus anticipated. By describing such technologies, they see no ontological limit, or at least do not specifically analyse the ontological limit of economic actors to substitute risk for uncertainty.

Similarly, a large amount of risk management studies focus on the ability to control all uncertainties, what Kaplan and Mikes (2012, p. 11) value as strategies for "managing the uncontrollable". While Power (2004, p. 767, 2015, p. 50) sees this as myth, as radical uncertainty is here to remain, he still explains how valuation practices can transform "an abstract 'matter of concern' to a matter of (organizational) fact" through three key moments: "counting, control, calculation". Similarly, studies in economic sociology and social studies of science and technology do not see any ontological limits in the ability of economic actors to substitute risk for uncertainty. They focus on how valuation arises from calculative practices such as commensuration (Espeland et al., 1998) ranking (Sauder et al., 2009) and classification (Stinchcombe, 2001). For instance, Espeland and Stevens have emphasised the importance of commensuration as a social process; the transformation of "qualities into quantities, difference into magnitude" (1998, p. 315); and the comparison with a "third thing, a metric" (1998, p. 317). In describing standards as "recipes for reality", Busch (2011, p. 189) shows the importance of standards in such commensuration methodologies to differentiate adequately - what he refers to as "standardised differentiation". In the field of international development, Bracking and her colleagues (2019, p. x) explore the calculative rationality underpinning these valuation and related risk management practices, especially how these instruments incorporate "evermore entities into socially articulated markets and spaces".

Regarding nature's valuation as such, Fourcade has examined in a prominent study on claims to compensation from damages resulting from large oil spills in the United States and in Europe not just how "something that stands normally outside market exchange comes to be attributed an economic (monetary) value" (1723); she also showed how such monetisation of nature significantly differed according to the distinct sociocultural environments on both sides of the Atlantic. In this view, it is not the economic valuation of nature as such which might face limits; it remains, however, heavily dependent on "evaluative frames and judgments [and] specific politico-institutional configurations and conflicts" (2011, p. 1769). Similarly, Maas and Svorenčík explored how the cost estimation of the Exxon Valdez oil spill created methodological struggles between consultants and experts. However, they still rely on quantitative valuation methods to describe such reality. This need to evaluate environmental values for which there is no proper market relates to what Dempsey describes as "liberal environmentalism". It aims at reducing environmental uncertainty by "enterprising nature", that is to deal with the conservation of biodiversity in a way that is "entirely compatible with current, predominantly capitalist, global political-economic relations", i.e. through markets (2016, p. 3). Similarly, Chiapello provides a critical analysis of the financialisation of valuation as a specific form of calculation. Here again, she explains how such mechanism is made possible through "conventions used in order to pluralise the idea of economic quantification or monetary measurement" (2015, p. 14). Such analysis is based on the extensive work of Desrosières about the historical sociology of quantification. Desrosières points out that any quantification (and objectivisation) effort involves a (political) choice – an equivalence convention – since quantifying is to agree, then to measure (2008, p. 10).

German social theory has perhaps been the most forward-looking on the concept of risk. Beckert (2016) recently explored the impact of imagined futures on the dynamics of capitalism – what is called the 'sociology of expectations'. Luhmann's 'system theory' also includes significant developments on the construction of risks and threats (Luhmann, 1986). In this regard, social systems are viewed as having increasingly internalised complex external threats as risks to be dealt with systematically - this is what Luhmann calls the "security of expectation" (Luhmann, 2013, p. 78). However, complexity theory just as complexity reduction always produces another layer of uncertainty. For his part, Beck (1992) drew on Luhmann to develop his analysis of risk society. He argues that risk has become the defining feature of late modernity, since "modern society has become a risk society in the sense that it is increasingly occupied with debating, preventing and managing risks that it itself has produced" (2006, p. 332). His definition of risk emphasises the importance of time, reversing "the relationship of past, present and future" (Beck, 2000, p. 214). However, as Aradau and von Munster (2012, p. 21) point out, Beck confuses risk and uncertainty, leaving the latter aside, since "uncertainty is merely the residual of risk, the incalculable leftover of risk management". Such residual risk arising from the previous transformation means that Beck considers the existence of epistemic but also ontological limits. Beck's concept recognises that the transformation of uncertainty into risk is complete, but that new uncertainties are produced during the conversion: the creation of another layer of uncertainty. In contrast, we argue that such conversion is not complete, and that something is purely `left out'.

Finally, scholarship in IPE and sociology thus provides a critical analysis of the ability of the economic actors to anticipate the future by substituting risk for uncertainty. While they provide a good appraisal of the epistemic limit of substituting risk for uncertainty, they fall short, however, on explaining the ontological limit, i.e. the conditions under which an uncertain phenomenon can or cannot be turned into an objectified set of instances. We consider that both epistemic and ontological limits in the substitution of risk for uncertainty should be more explicitly conceptualised. In order to appraise such ontological limit, we build on Frank H. Knight's study on *Risk, Uncertainty and Profit* (1921).⁴

The ontological limit of Frank H. Knight

Frank Hyneman Knight and John Maynard Keynes both published in 1921 a book exploring the links between calculability and knowledge production on the one hand, and risk and uncertainty on the other: *A Treatise on Probabilities* for Keynes; *Risk*,

³ In the same vein, Ericson points out that "Beck should have called it the uncertain society because his focus is on potential and actual scientific and technological disasters that have proven unpredictable and entail immeasurable human suffering" (Ericson, 2005, p. 660).

⁴ While Knight sees ontological limits in the substitution of risk for uncertainty, he does not fully consider the significance of epistemic limits.

Uncertainty and Profit for Knight. Both books have been identified as a landmark analysis in the distinction between risk and uncertainty. As pointed out by Shackle, another key figure in the conceptualisation of risk and uncertainty (1967, p. 6):"uncertainty was the new strand placed gleamingly in the skein of economic ideas in the 1930s". In a famous article in the Quarterly Journal of Economics, Keynes provided a simple definition of uncertainty: "a matter for which there is no scientific basis on which to form any calculable probability whatever. We simply do not know" (1937, pp. 213–214).⁵ Best (2008, p. 364) underlines that both Knight and Keynes "saw economic decision making as based on conventional rather than perfectly rational thinking". Despite their similarities, Knight's radical distinction between risk and uncertainty allows us to better grasp and understand the ontological limit we are looking for. Indeed, Keynes' reasoning is not based on the importance of knowledge, but on the "intersubjective nature of economic activity" (Best, 2008, p. 364) through the role played by social conventions. In contrast, Knight develops a technical toolbox to find ways of managing part of the 'true uncertainty' in a non-quantified way. We build thus on Knight to further develop our argument regarding the pluralisation of knowledge. Overall, Knight gives us a detailed spectrum of the different forms of risk and uncertainty, which helps to situate the ontological limit of uncertainty reduction.

Knight explores how profit is generated in different situations of "partial knowledge" (1971, p. 199), developing various categories to secure "better knowledge of and control over the future" (1971, p. 260). These categories are represented in his wellknown triptych: a priori probability, statistical probability and estimates of probability. However, Knight also raises the fuggy boundary between these three categories, especially between statistical probability and estimates of probability (uncertainty), for which the divergence "is a matter of degree only" (1971, p. 225). A priori probability is used in a situation of entire rationality close to laboratory conditions, in which alternatives are homogeneously classified. Knight gives the example of six faces dice and the results of potential throwing. As he points out, this kind of probability is the easiest to solve, but is also very rare (especially in business): "we hardly find in practice really homogeneous classifications (in the sense in which mathematical probability implies, as in the case of successive throws of a perfect die)" (1971, p. 246). A priori probability is thus useless for our analysis, as we explore how economic actors face an uncertain future. Statistical probability aims at objectifying a more uncertain situation, yet still considered by Knight to be a risk. It differs from a priori probability according to "the accuracy of classification of the instances grouped together" (1971, p. 217), i.e. heterogeneity versus homogeneity. Statistical probability can only be computed empirically (1971, p. 224), and not, as a priori probability, on general principles (1971, p. 224).⁶ The next level of this triptych – estimates of probability – is an uncertainty, in which there is "no valid basis of any kind for classifying instances" (1971, p. 225). Yet, this situation can still be managed and transformed into statistical probabilities with the help of 'estimates' of probability. It requires estimating "the given factors in a situation and also estimate the probability that any particular consequence will follow from any of them if present in the degree assumed" (1971, p. 214).

⁵ The whole quote is the following: "By 'uncertain' knowledge [...] I do not mean merely to distinguish what is known for certain from what is only probable. The game of roulette is not subject, in this sense, to uncertainty; nor is the prospect of a Victory bond being drawn. Or, again, the expectation of life is only slightly uncertain. Even the weather is only moderately uncertain. The sense in which 1am using the term is that in which the prospect of a European war is uncertain, or the price of copper and the rate of interest twenty years hence, or the obsolescence of a new invention, or the position of private wealth-owners in the social system in 1970. About these matters, there is no scientific basis on which to form any calculable probability whatever. We simply do not know" (Keynes, 1937, pp. 213–214).

⁶ According to Runde (1998, p. 540), statistical probability is an "empirical evaluation of the frequency of association between predicates, not analysable into varying combinations of equally probable alternatives".

However, the core the analysis driving towards an ontological limit lies in the difference between uncertainty and true uncertainty. While uncertainty can still be transformed into quantitative risk, this is no longer the case for true uncertainty that cannot be dealt quantitatively. Coming back to the initial aim of his book – the origin of profit – Knight underlines that business decisions "deal with situations which are far too unique, generally speaking, for any sort of statistical tabulation to have any value for guidance. The conception of an objectively measurable probability or chance is simply inapplicable" (1971, p. 231). The entrepreneur, or what Knight also calls the "adventurer" (1971, p. 237), often deals with situations of true uncertainty that distance themselves from quantitative reasoning and appeal to "judgment", "common sense", or "intuition" (1971, p. 211). Knight thus sets an ontological limit in the substitution of risk for uncertainty. Yet, he still recognises the ability of judgment to reduce part of it.

We now examine how to face the previously identified limits by drawing on Knight's toolbox to reduce true uncertainty. We then make the argument that the knowledge brought into play for anticipating the future is doomed to fail in case of true uncertainty. Against this background, we underline the need of a co-production of knowledge by a larger range of actors.

How to face the limit?

Dealing with Knightian true uncertainties

Knight's toolbox to deal with true uncertainty puts forward "the difference in individuals in relation to uncertainty [then leading] [...] to a tendency to specialise the function of meeting it in the hands of certain individuals and classes" (1971, p. 244). Such core argument of Knight's book means that some individuals predict better than others (1971, p. 241). Each individual has different capacities by perception and inference to form future correct judgments; to judge means, discern, plan steps and adjust if necessary (1971, pp. 241–243). In this regard, Knight distinguishes between "objective probability" and "subjective probability", and considers that both can exist at the same time in spite of the limits to men's deliberations. Most decisions are made on the basis of an opinion of a probability, often resulting from both the subjective and objective type, "so that the degree of felt uncertainty is a product of two probability ratios" (1971, p. 237). He points out that capacities of prediction vary between their accuracy; their promptness – speed; time range (to which conduct is or may be adjusted) and space range, in other terms the capacity of action. All of the above has been stated to help us take into consideration that there is "differences in the men themselves or differences in their position in relation to the problem" (1971, p. 239).

We can now explore in more detail what we consider as a 'two-in-one method' to reduce true uncertainty, which is "based respectively upon reduction by grouping and upon selection of men to bear it, consolidation (i.e. grouping) and specialisation, respectively" (1971, p. 239). First, consolidation or grouping consists of classifying past events, which is made and born by experts. Even in complete absence of data, this can create more knowledge and reduce a part of uncertainty. Mostly used in insurance, it deals "with groups of cases instead of individual cases" (Knight, 1971, p. 245). The Knightian grouping, to our understanding, is dealt by experts mandated by the entrepreneur. However, the business man (who is outside the process) remains the one who takes decisions, since he has judgment, past experience knowledge or 'gut feeling'. The Knightian entrepreneur by borrowing money has to

deal with other investors' views and experiences, thus, creating more knowledge and obtaining better results than what he would have done otherwise. Nevertheless, through what Knight calls "diffusion" and the "law of big numbers", i.e. the result of a businessman's borrowing money, the entrepreneur "extends the scope of his exercise of judgment over a greater number of decisions or estimates". There is thus "a greater probability that bad guesses will be offset by good ones and that a degree of constancy and dependability in the total results will be achieved" (1971, p. 252). Second, the specialisation method relates to one's judgment capacity and through the action of speculation. One of the most fundamental effects is "its conversion into a measured risk or elimination by grouping which is implied in [specialisation]" (1971, p. 256). This is indeed a 'two-in-one method', since "specialisation implies concentration, and concentration involves consolidation [grouping]; and no matter how heterogeneous 'the cases' the gains and losses neutralise each other in the aggregate to an extent increasing as the number of cases thrown together" (1971, p. 256). The role of experts in the field and the ability of judgment of entrepreneurs (even though not equal in all beings) are thus fundamental in Knight's method.

To summarise, Knight considers that there is no limit in the ability to produce the knowledge required to substitute risk for uncertainty. However, such knowledge stays in the hands of few people, a form of elite able to anticipate the future thanks to good judgement. It remains now to discuss that reducing uncertainties is not limited to what Knight suggests in his two-in-one method. This is what we mean when arguing that we are better armed to face an unknown future thanks to pluralisation of knowledge.

Beyond Knightian expertise: Pluralisation of knowledge

To reduce true uncertainty non-quantitively, Knight puts forward the activity of "production and sale of information", which is close to the modern definition of expertise: "a codified knowledge produced by specialist, and that is generally assumed to require skills and experience not possessed by professional administrators" (Littoz-Monnet, 2017, p. 2). Littoz-Monnet points out that the objective of expertise is to put in place policies that are "evidence based", "rational" and "neutral", while Knight explains that expertise "consists essentially of the sale of guidance" (1971, p. 262). Although he is sceptical of the "rapid growth" of this industry, since these "experts and consultants" mandated by the entrepreneur "do not stop at diagnosis; in addition they prescribe" (1971, p. 262), he also acknowledges that they "do a useful work in forcing the intelligent, critical consideration of business problems instead of a blind following of tradition or the use of guesswork methods" (1971, p. 263).

International Relations (IR) and IPE scholarships have discussed at length the authority of science, expertise and knowledge in the contemporary world order. More than 25 years ago, Haas (1992) coined the concept of 'epistemic communities' to shed light on the transnational power of expertise in a particular domain. It is worth noting that, still today, Haas considers that the knowledge produced within the confines of a disciplinary field is the most likely to produce the expected outcome of an epistemic community: "panels with expertise based on disciplinary credentials proved more influential than those with more open-ended experts from civil society" (2017, p. 62). While the 'Delphi method'⁷ also makes the assumption that "several heads are better than one in making subjective conjectures about the future", it still acknowledges the superior role of experts, who are able to "make conjectures based

⁷ It is a method developed by the RAND corporation in the 1950s to "forecast the impact of technology on warfare" <u>https://www.rand.org/topics/delphi-method.html</u>

upon rational judgement rather than merely guessing" (Weaver, 1971, p. 268). Therefore, both the concept of epistemic communities and the Delphi method replicate the difficulties regarding Knight's true uncertainty confined to a specialisation within the hand of entrepreneurs, elites and experts.

A large range of tools are currently developed to reduce the uncertainty of the ecological crisis. Again, their aim is to exceed both the ontological and epistemic limits discussed above. One of these tools is 'natural capital accounting methodologies', which aim at assigning a book value to nature. It allows – as seen above – to undertake an environmental cost-benefit analysis, and to put an economic value on a future (environmental) situation. Yet, these methodologies developed among others by the Big Four accounting firms (Deloitte, Ernst & Young, KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers), The International Organization for Standardization or the Natural Capital Coalition, always build on the work of experts, consultants and entrepreneurs, sharing a "common vision of a world where business conserves and enhances natural capital" (Natural Capital Coalition, 2016, p. 12). The same is true for a large range of other arenas developing quantitative tools to reduce ecological uncertainties into manageable risks. Again, we have doubt regarding the ability of a small group of experts to anticipate the future by quantitively substituting risk for uncertainty.

In contrast, we build on Science and Technology Studies (STS) that point out the coproduction of science and society, while acknowledging the power of science as a mean of control over the material world (Latour, 1993; Jasanoff, 2004; Pestre, 2013, p. 7). Such recognition of scientific knowledge as inevitably and deeply political has been taken on board by the "practice turn" in IR (Best et al., 2013; Bueger, 2013; Cornut, 2015). As Jasanoff suggests, scientific knowledge is embedded in "social practices, identities, norms, conventions, discourses, instruments and institutions" (2004, p. 3). Under the apparent technicality of the subject and the 'neutrality of science', decisions of experts escape democratic debate although they engage our common future. Latour (2008) has conceptualised such a gap between science and politics, asking "to bring the sciences into democracy". Callon and his co-authors (2011, p. 18) proposed the concept of "hybrid forums" to resolve situation of scientific controversies, i.e., "open spaces where groups can come together to discuss technical options involving the collective".

According to Graz and Hauert (2019, p. 178), pluralisation of knowledge reflects such a need "to reach out to a broader pool on an ad-hoc basis" in order to "look for cognitive resources on a much more heterogeneous basis". Yet, in contrast to Callon and his co-authors focused on regime of controversies, pluralisation of knowledge provides "insights for an in-depth understanding of the co-production of sociotechnical knowledge" (Graz et al., 2019, p. 172). Our purpose is to suggest that pluralisation of knowledge can recognise both the epistemic and ontological limits discussed above, while helping to make better and more inclusive decisions in situation of uncertainty. Indeed, asking for the most heterogeneous basis of knowledge means that such a group of people will never be 'complete', so that an epistemic limit is inevitable. The ontological limit is also illustrated in a hybrid forum made up of people who do not share - as experts and especially economists - the powerful role of models and quantitative tools to anticipate the future. Therefore, a better anticipation of the future necessitates to be open to other forms of knowledge on the one hand, and to innovative and potentially non-quantitative methodological tools and policy options on the other.

A good case in point regarding such pluralisation was already discussed more than twenty years ago by Funtowicz and Ravetz. They studied the democratisation of knowledge for a proper understanding of songbirds' contribution to nature – what they call a "postnormal science" – that would be worthless without "an extension of the peer community for quality assurance" (1994, p. 198). International initiatives, such as the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES)⁸, recently claims to include a larger range of actors for efficient biodiversity assessment and related valuation (Vadrot, 2014). Its reports especially recognise the diversity of nature's values on the one hand – including nonquantitative valuation - and the plurality of forms of knowledge on the other, including "governments, civil society organizations, and indigenous people and local communities" (IPBES, 2018, p. 30). The United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UNISDR) was one of the first to recognise the importance of local knowledge in disaster reduction policy. This "world of natural disaster reduction" has emphasised the importance of "sensorial measures", described as "traditional secular knowledge" (Revet, 2018, p. 125). In one of their report of 2008, they underline that "indigenous knowledge contributes not only to the success of intervention, but more importantly to its sustainability in the longer term" (UNISDR, 2008, p. 3). Yet, a gap remains between the discourse (or even the will), and the practice regarding the inclusion of indigenous, local - or simply a more heterogenous - knowledge into 'mainstream science'. Literature shows that the IPBES failed "to find ways of dealing with contrasting rationalists, diverging ontologies and different criteria for knowledge validation" (Dunkley et al., 2018, p. 794). Many challenges therefore remain regarding a proper pluralisation of knowledge recognizing both the epistemic and ontological limit in any attempt to substitute risk for uncertainty.

Conclusion

This paper has examined the distinction between risk and uncertainty and rests on two interrelated arguments. First, we contend that the substitution of risk for uncertainty faces limits. To this end, we reviewed how different approaches of relations between the economy, nature and society, conceive such possibility to anticipate the future, by distinguishing between epistemic and ontological levels of analysis. While mainstream economics sees neither epistemic, nor ontological limits in substituting risk for uncertainty, heterodox approaches including IPE, heterodox economics and economic sociology question such lack of epistemic limit, while remaining often trapped in a 'no limit ontology'. We have drawn on Frank H. Knight's concept of true uncertainty to suggest that there are also ontological limits in the substitution of risk for uncertainty. Yet, this conceptual paper has not provided an analysis of concrete applications of such limits in the substitution of risk for uncertainty to the ecological crisis. Yet, we follow Heide and her colleague (2018, p. 212) who argue that by expressing nature in terms of one dimension, e.g., money, "it is virtually impossible to represent the complexity of natural processes, which often exhibit non-linear behaviour that is difficult to predict". A good case in point has been made by the environmentalist Norman Myers describing more than 25 years ago "unknown problems in the environmental field" as the "unknown unknowns" (1993, 1995, p. 358). Therefore, substituting ecological risk for uncertainty is about abstraction and reduction. In a similar vein, Innes (2019) points out that "in the real world the parameters of the global political economy are being changed every day by the accelerating ecological crisis. This is not a world of calculable risk in a closed system, but of radical uncertainty in an evolving system that depends wholly on the biosphere". From there, it may be interesting to empirically explore the status of what is 'left out' in the substitution of risk for uncertainty. Indeed, the valuation of

⁸ The official aim of the IPBES is to "provide Governments, the private sector, and civil society with scientifically credible and independent up-to-date assessments of available knowledge to make informed decisions at the local, regional and international levels" (IPBES, 2018, p. 4).

nature and related uncertainty reduction inevitably leaves out some values while retaining other. The question would then be which values are lost in such substitution.

Second, we have shown various ways to face such limits. While Knight acknowledges the role of expert knowledge in the ability of entrepreneurs to reduce such uncertainty and, eventually, make profits, we have argued that we are better armed to face uncertainties such as the yet unknown impacts of the ecological crisis thanks to the co-production of knowledge by a larger range of actors. Again, this conceptual paper has not provided an analysis of concrete applications of a proper pluralisation of knowledge. This leads us to consider three other dimensions for future research. First, it is important to explore the power relations within these platforms or organisations such as the IPBES, conflicting actors and forms of knowledge put into play. Second, it may be interesting to provide further emphasis on the role of indigenous and traditional knowledge in uncertainty reduction. Third, the growing importance of `citizens science', united under the slogan `Science for the People'' can also extend the scope of the pluralisation of knowledge (Irwin, 1995).

References

Akerlof, George A. (1970). "The Market for `Lemons': Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism", *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 84(3): 488–500.

Aradau, Claudia & Rens van Munster (2012). *Politics of Catastrophe*. New York: Routledge.

Arrow, K., M. Cropper, C. Gollier, B. Groom, G. Heal, R. Newell, W. Nordhaus, R. Pindyck, W. Pizer, P. Portney, T. Sterner, R. S. J. Tol & M. Weitzman (2013). "Determining Benefits and Costs for Future Generations", *Science* 341(6144): 349–350.

Arrow, Kenneth J. (1963). "Uncertainty and the Welfare Economics of Medical Care", *The American Economic Review* 53(5): 941–973.

Beck, Ulrich (1992). Risk Society: Towards a New Modernity. London: SAGE.

Beck, Ulrich (2000). Risk Society Revisited: Theory, Politics and Research Programmes, in B. Adam, J. van Loon & U. Beck (eds.), *The Risk Society and Beyond: Critical Issues for Social Theory*. London: SAGE: 211–229.

Beck, Ulrich (2006). "Living in the World Risk Society", *Economy and Society* 35(3): 329–345.

Beckert, Jens (2016). *Imagined Futures: Fictional Expectations and Capitalist Dynamics*. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Best, Jacqueline (2008). "Ambiguity, Uncertainty, and Risk: Rethinking Indeterminacy", *International Political Sociology* 2(4): 355–374.

Best, Jacqueline & William Walters (2013). ""Actor-Network Theory" and International Relationality: Lost (and Found) in Translation: Introduction", *International Political Sociology* 7(3): 332–334.

Bracking, Sarah, Aurora Fredriksen, Sian Sullivan & Philip Woodhouse (2019). *Valuing Development, Environment and Conservation: Creating Values That Matter*. London: Routledge.

Briggs, Rachael (2017). "Normative Theories of Rational Choice: Expected Utility", in Zalta, E. N. (ed.), *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Stanford: Stanford

University Press.

Bueger, Christian (2013). "Actor-Network Theory, Methodology, and International Organization", *International Political Sociology* 7(3): 338–342.

Busch, Lawrence (2011). *Standards: Recipes for Reality*. Cambridge (MA): The MIT Press.

Callon, Michel, Pierre Lascoumes & Yannick Barthe (2011). *Acting in an Uncertain World: An Essay on Technical Democracy*. Cambridge: The MIT Press.

Callon, Michel & Fabian Muniesa (2008). "Economic Experiments and the Construction of Markets", in D. MacKenzie, F. Muniesa & L. Siu (eds.), *Do Economists Make Markets?: On the Performativity of Economics*. Princeton: Princeton University Press: 163–189.

Chiapello, Eve (2015). "Financialisation of Valuation", Human Studies 38(1): 13–35.

Christophers, Brett (2018). "Risking Value Theory in the Political Economy of Finance and Nature", *Progress in Human Geography* 42(3): 330–349.

Coase, R. H. (1960). "The Problem of Social Cost", *Journal of Law and Economics* 3: 1–44.

Cornut, Jérémie (2015). "The Practice Turn in International Relations Theory", *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of International Studies* [online]. Available at: https://oxfordre.com/internationalstudies/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780190846626. 001.0001/acrefore-9780190846626-e-113 [5 June 2019].

Costanza, Robert, Ralph d'Arge, Rudolf de Groot, Stephen Farber, Monica Grasso, Bruce Hannon, Karin Limburg, Shahid Naeem, Robert V.O'Neill, Jose Paruelo, Robert G. Raskin, Paul Suttonand & Marjan van den Belt (1997). "The Value of the World's Ecosystem Services and Natural Capital", *Nature* 387(6630): 253–260.

Davidson, Paul (1996). "Reality and Economic Theory", *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics* 18(4): 479–508.

Dempsey, Jessica (2016). *Enterprising Nature: Economics, Markets, and Finance in Global Biodiversity Politics*. Chichester: Wiley.

Dequech, David (2004). "Uncertainty: Individuals, Institutions and Technology", *Cambridge Journal of Economics* 28(3): 365–378.

Dequech, David (2011). "Uncertainty: A Typology and Refinements of Existing Concepts", *Journal of Economic Issues* 45(3): 621–640.

Desrosières, Alain (2008). *Pour Une Sociologie Historique de La Quantification. L'argument Statistique I*. Paris: Presses de l'école des mines.

Deuchars, Robert (2004). *The International Political Economy of Risk: Rationalism, Calculation and Power*. Aldershot: Ashgate Pub Ltd.

Dunkley, Ria, Susan Baker, Natasha Constant & Angelina Sanderson Bellamy (2018). "Enabling the IPBES Conceptual Framework to Work across Knowledge Boundaries", *International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics* 18: 779–799.

Edwards, Paul N. (2013). A Vast Machine: Computer Models, Climate Data, and the Politics of Global Warming. Cambridge: The MIT Press.

Ericson, Richard (2005). "Governing through Risk and Uncertainty", *Economy and Society* 34(4): 659–672.

Ericson, Richard V., Aaron Doyle, Dean Barry & Diana Ericson (2003). *Insurance as Governance*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Espeland, Wendy Nelson & Mitchell L. Stevens (1998). "Commensuration as a Social Process", *Annual Review of Sociology* 24(1): 313–343.

Ewald, François (1986). L'Etat providence. Paris: Grasset.

Ewald, François (1996). *Histoire de l'État providence: les origines de la solidarité*. Paris: Grasset.

Fourcade, Marion (2011). "Cents and Sensibility: Economic Valuation and the Nature of "Nature". *American Journal of Sociology* 116(6): 1721–77.

Friedman, Milton & L. J. Savage (1948). "The Utility Analysis of Choices Involving Risk", *Journal of Political Economy* 56(4): 279–304.

Funtowicz, Silvio O. & Jerome R. Ravetz (1994). "The Worth of a Songbird: Ecological Economics as a Post-Normal Science", *Ecological Economics* 10(3): 197–207.

Goulder, Lawrence & Roberton Williams III (2012), The Choice of Discount Rate for Climate Change Policy Evaluation. *Ressources for the future*: 12–43.

Gouldson, Andrew & Jan Bebbington (2007). "Corporations and the Governance of Environmental Risk", *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy* 25(1): 4–20.

Graz, Jean-Christophe & Christophe Hauert (2019). "Translating Technical Diplomacy: The Participation of Civil Society Organisations in International Standardisation", *Global Society* 33(2): 163–183.

Groom, Ben, Cameron Hepburn, Phoebe Koundouri & David Pearce (2005). "Declining Discount Rates: The Long and the Short of It", *Environmental & Resource Economics*, 32(4): 445–493.

Haas, Peter M. (1992). "Introduction: Epistemic Communities and International Policy Coordination", *International Organization* 46(1): 1–35.

Haas, Peter M. (2017). "Coupling Science to Governance: Straddling the Science-Policy Interface", in A. Littoz-Monnet (ed.), *The Politics of Expertise in International Organizations: How International Bureaucracies Produce and Mobilize Knowledge*. New York: Routledge: 54–75

Haavelmo, Trygve (1944). *The Probability Approach in Econometrics*. Cleveland: The Econometric Society.

Heide, Martijn Van der, Wim Heijman & Joop Schaminée (2018). *Ecological Economics*. Wageningen: Wageningen Academic Publishers.

Hickel, Jason (2018). The Nobel Prize for Climate Catastrophe. Available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2018/12/06/the-nobel-prize-for-climate-catastrophe/ [5 June 2019].

Hodgson, Geoffrey M. (2011). "The Eclipse of the Uncertainty Concept in Mainstream Economics", *Journal of Economic Issues* 45(1): 159–176.

Hussen, Ahmed M (2000). *Principles of Environmental Economics: Economics, Ecology and Public Policy*. London: Routledge.

Innes, Abby (2019). It Is a Fantasy to Think That Financial Markets Will Self-Regulate When It Comes to Climate Risk. Available at https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/regulation-climate-change-risk/ [5 June 2019].

IPBES (2018). *The IPBES Regional Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services for Europe and Central Asia.* Bonn: Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Irwin, Alan (1995). Citizen Science. New York: Routledge.

Jasanoff, Sheila (ed.) (2004). *States of Knowledge: The Co-Production of Science and the Social Order*. London: Routledge.

Kaplan, Robert S. & Anette Mikes (2012). "Managing Risks: A New Framework", *Harvard Business Review*.

Katzenstein, Peter J & Lucia A Seybert (2018). "Protean Power and Uncertainty: Exploring the Unexpected in World Politics", *International Studies Quarterly* 62(1): 80–93.

Kessler, Oliver (2008). "The Importance of Ignorance: Non-Knowledge and the Limits of Bayesianism", in G. Hanappi and W. Elsner (eds.), *Advances in evolutionary institutional economics: evolutionary mechanisms, non-knowledge and strategy*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Keynes, J. M. (1937). "The General Theory of Employment", *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 51(2): 209–223.

Knight, Frank H. (1971). *Risk, Uncertainty, and Profit*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

Latour, Bruno (1993). *We Have Never Been Modern*. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Latour, Bruno (2008). *Politiques de la nature: comment faire entrer les sciences en démocratie*. Paris: La Découverte.

Levy, Jonathan (2005). *Freaks of Fortune: The Emerging World of Capitalism and Risk in America*. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Littoz-Monnet, Annabelle (2017). *The Politics of Expertise in International Organizations: How International Bureaucracies Produce and Mobilize Knowledge*. New York: Routledge.

Lobo-Guerrero, Luis (2014). "Life Securitisation, the Event Object of Insurance and the Strategisation of Time", *Journal of Cultural Economy* 7(3): 353–370.

Luhmann, Niklas (1986). "The Autopoiesis of Social Systems", in F. Geyer & J. V. D. Zouwen (eds.), *Sociocybernetic Paradoxes: Observation, Control and Evolution of Self-Steering Systems*. London: Sage: 72–192.

Luhmann, Niklas (2013). A Sociological Theory of Law. Abingdon: Routledge.

Maas, Harro & Andrej Svorenčík (2017). ""Fraught with Controversy": Organizing Expertise against Contingent Valuation", *History of Political Economy* 49(2): 315–345.

MacKenzie, Donald, Fabian Muniesa & Lucia Siu (2008). *Do Economists Make Markets?: On the Performativity of Economics*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Morgan, Mary S. (1991). *The History of Econometric Ideas*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Myers, J.P. & J.S. Reichert (1997). "Perspective in Nature's Services", in G. Daily (ed.), *Nature's Services: Societal Dependence on Natural Ecosystems*. Washington, DC: Island Press: xvii-xx.

Myers, Norman (1993). "Biodiversity and the Precautionary Principle", *Ambio* 22(2 & 3): 74–79.

Myers, Norman (1995). "Environmental Unknowns", Science 269(5222): 358–360.

Natural Capital Coalition (2016). Natural Capital Protocol.

Nelson, Stephen C & Peter J Katzenstein (2014). "Uncertainty, Risk, and the Financial Crisis of 2008", *International Organization* 68(2): 361–392.

Neumann von, John & Oskar Morgenstern (1944). *Theory of Games and Economic Behaviour*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Nordhaus, William D. (2007). "To Tax or Not to Tax: Alternative Approaches to Slowing Global Warming", *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy* 1(1): 26–44.

Norgaard, Richard B. & Collin Bode (1998). "Next, the Value of God, and Other Reactions", *Ecological Economics* 25(1): 37–39.

O'Malley, Pat (1992). "Risk, Power and Crime Prevention", *Economy and Society* 21(3): 252–275.

O'Malley, Pat (2003). "Moral Uncertainties: Contract Law and Distinctions between Speculation, Gambling, and Insurance", in R. Ericson & A. Doyle (eds.), *Risk and Morality*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press: 231–257

O'Malley, Pat (2008). Governmentality and Risk, in J. Zin (ed.). *Social Theories of Risk and Uncertainty*. Oxford: Social Science Research Network: 52–75

Orléan, André (1987). "Anticipations et conventions en situation d'incertitude", *Cahiers d'Économie Politique* 13(1): 153–172.

Pestre, Dominique (2013). A contre-science. Politiques et savoirs des sociétés contemporaines. Paris: Le Seuil.

Pigou, A. C (1920). The Economics of Welfare. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Power, Michael (2004). "Counting, Control and Calculation: Reflections on Measuring and Management", *Human Relations* 57(6): 765–783.

Power, Michael (2015). "How Accounting Begins: Object Formation and the Accretion of Infrastructure", *Accounting, Organizations and Society* 47: 43–55.

Reddy, Sanjay G. (1996). "Claims to Expert Knowledge and the Subversion of Democracy: The Triumph of Risk over Uncertainty", *Economy and Society* 25(2): 222–254.

Revet, Sandrine (2018). *Dans les coulisses du monde des catastrophes naturelles*. Paris: Éditions de la Maison des Sciences de l'Homme.

Roberts, David (2012). *Discount Rates: A Boring Thing You Should Know about (with Otters!).* Available at https://grist.org/article/discount-rates-a-boring-thing-you-should-know-about-with-otters/ [30 May 2019].

Runde, Jochen (1998). "Clarifying Frank Knight's Discussion of the Meaning of Risk and Uncertainty", *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 22(5): 539–546.

Sandelin, Bo, Hans-Michael Trautwein, & Richard Wundrak (2008). A Short History of Economic Thought. Abingdon: Routledge.

Sauder, Michael & Wendy Nelson Espeland (2009). "The Discipline of Rankings: Tight Coupling and Organizational Change", *American Sociological Review* 74(1): 63–82.

Savage, Leonard J. (1972). *The Foundations of Statistics*. New York: Dover Publications.

Shackle, George Lennox Sharman (1967). *The Years of High Theory : Invention and Tradition in Economic Thought, 1926-1939*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Skidelsky, Robert (2019). *The Fall of the Economists' Empire. Project Syndicate*. Available at https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/western-power-

underpinned-universalism-of-economics-by-robert-skidelsky-2019-07 [25 July 2019].

Stinchcombe, Arthur L. (2001). *When Formality Works: Authority and Abstraction in Law and Organizations*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Unerman, Jeffrey, Jan Bebbington & Brendan O'dwyer (2018). Corporate Reporting and Accounting for Externalities, *Accounting and Business Research* 48(5): 497–522.

UNISDR (2008). *Indigenous Knowledge for Disaster Risk Reduction: Good Practices and Lessons Learned from Experiences in the Asia-Pacific Region*. Bangkok: UNISDR.

Vadrot, Alice B. M. (2014). *The Politics of Knowledge and Global Biodiversity*. London: Routledge.

Weaver, W. Timothy (1971). "The Delphi Forecasting Method", *The Phi Delta Kappan* 52(5): 267–271.

Dans la collection « Cahiers de l'IEP » /« Travaux de Science Politique »

Disponibles sur https://www.unil.ch/iep/home/menuinst/publications.html

- 72. **Dimitri Courant** (2018). Deliberative Democracy, Legitimacy, and Institutionalisation. The Irish Citizens' Assemblies.
- 71. Gabriel Borduas, Madeleine Braulin, Elahé Goin, Matteo Gorgoni, Diana Martínez, Antoine Michel, Élodie Müller, Maud Reveilhac, Charlotte Vidal Kränzlin, Jan-Erik Refle et Lionel Marquis (2018). Le populisme à l'assaut de l'Europe. Le succès électoral des partis populistes entre crise de confiance, globalisation et clivages de valeurs.
- Andrea Pilotti, Madeleine Braulin, Oscar Mazzoleni et Yves Di Cristino (2018). Chi ci rappresenta ? Candidati, eletti e campagna elettorale alle elezioni del Gran Consiglio ticinese del 2015.
- 69. **Lionel Marquis** (2017). Conformism in opinions about the welfare state in Switzerland. Results from a List Experiment.
- 68. **Dimitri Courant** (2017). Thinking Sortition. Modes of selection, deliberative frameworks and democratic principles.
- Oscar Mazzoleni, Carolina Rossi, Andrea Pilotti et Virginie Debons (2017). Le elezioni cantonali ticinesi del 2015. Partecipazione, orientamento, temi e personalizzazione del voto.
- 66. Maxime Filliau, Aziz Haltiti, Anna Herczeg, Loeva La Ragione, Régis Marchon, Baudouin Noez, Milinda Wannakula Aratchilage, Yuzhou Wu, Jan-Erik Refle et Lionel Marquis (2016). Immigration, sécurité et comportement électoral. Les Européens face aux crises économique, migratoire et sécuritaire.
- 65. **Nicholas Pohl** (2016). Quand les hiérarchies reviennent par la fenêtre... La démocratie au sein d'un syndicat anarchosyndicaliste.
- 64. **Philippe Gottraux et Cécile Péchu** (2016). Sous le populisme, la pluralité. Anti-élitisme et rapports au leader chez les militants de l'Union Démocratique du Centre en Suisse.
- 63. **Michele Bee** (2015). Opening One's Self Up The Historical Result of Bettering One's Condition According to Adam Smith.

- 62. **Conor Cradden et Jean-Christophe Graz** (2015). Transnational private authority, regulatory space and workers' collective competences: Bringing local contexts and worker agency back in.
- 61. Andrea Pilotti et Oscar Mazzoleni (2014). Il voto ticinese sull'iniziativa 'contro l'immigrazione di massa' del 9 febbraio 2014.
- 60. **Michele Bee** (2014). The Love of One's Self. The *Adam Smith Problem* Explained to Myself.
- 59. **Marion Beetschen** (2014). Les experts académiques dans les commissions extraparlementaires helvétiques au XXe siècle.
- 58. **Rahel Kunz** (2013). Partnership in International Migration Governance.
- 57. **Gilles Descloux** (2013). Déviance et stratégies de conservation de l'estime de soi chez les jeunes de catégorie populaire en quête d'insertion professionnelle.
- 56. **Pierre Eichenberger, Sébastien Guex, Cédric Humair et André Mach** (2013). Les organisations patronales suisses : Bilan historiographique et perspectives de recherche.
- 55. Andrea Plata, Mattia Pacella et Oscar Mazzoleni (2012). Verso il parlamento. Candidati, partiti e campagna elettorale nelle elezioni cantonali ticinesi del 2011.
- 54. **Jean-Christophe Graz et Patrick Csikos** (2012). Satellizing Galileo? Non-state authority and interoperability standards in the European Global Navigation Satellite System.
- 53. **Claire Dupuy et Julie Pollard** (2012). Retour sur une source écrite centrale pour l'analyse des politiques publiques.
- 52. **Jean-Marie Chenou** (2012). Élitisme dans la politique mondiale. Le rôle des acteurs transnationaux dans les nouvelles formes de gouvernance.
- 51. Oscar Mazzoleni, Mattia Pacella et Andrea Plata (2011). Le elezioni cantonali ticinesi del 2011. Partecipazione e orientamento di voto fra lealtà, defezione, protesta.
- 50. **Olivier Fillieule** (2011). Disengagement process from radical organizations. What is

so different when it comes to exclusive groups?

- 49. **Olivier Fillieule et Philippe Blanchard** (2011). Fighting Together. Assessing Continuity and Change in Social Movement Organizations Through the Study of Constituencies' Heterogeneity.
- 48. Jean-Christophe Graz et Eva Hartmann (2010). Global regulation of the knowledge-based economy: The rise of standards in educational services.
- 47. **Jean-Christophe Graz et Nafy Niang** (2010). Standards and services offshoring in India: Moving beyond industry and institutional specificities.
- Maude Gex (2010). Le divin profané par Da Vine ? La Contestation du brevet sur l'ayahuasca et les débats autour de la biopiraterie.
- 45. **Mattia Pacella** (2010). Qui gouverne le Tessin ? Les Elites politiques cantonales tessinoises : l'évolution du profil sociologique des Conseillers d'Etat de 1905 à nos jours.
- 44. **Aline Mugny** (2010). Analyse du processus de réétatisation du secteur des eaux urbaines dans l'aire métropolitaine du Buenos Aires (1993-2009).
- Nicolas Rieder (2009). La diffusion scientifique dans les Expositions universelles. Les sciences anthropologiques à l'Exposition universelle de Paris en 1889 et à la World's Columbian Exposition de Chicago en 1893.
- 42. Philip Balsiger, Yassin Boughaba et Gwendoline Véniat (2009). Conflit du travail et investissements militants. Les grèves des employés.es de Swissmetal à Reconvilier (2004-2006).
- 41. **Dietmar Braun** (2009). Federalism in South Africa Can it work?
- Romain Bertrand (2009). Habermas au Bengale, ou comment "provincialiser l'Europe" avec Dipesh Chakrabarty.
- Oscar Mazzoleni et Hervé Rayner (2008). Une coalition gouvernementale durable. Emergence, institutionnalisation et crise de la «formule magique» en Suisse (1959-2003).
- Andrin Hauri (2008). Les conséquences de la barrière de séparation entre Israël et la Cisjordanie à court et à long terme. Les perspectives pour la fondation d'un État palestinien.
- André Mach et Andrea Pilotti (2008). Professionnalisation et changements de profils des parlementaires suisses au cours de la période récente (1980-2000)

- 36. **Olivier Fillieule** (2008). Travail militant, action collective et rapports de genre.
- 35. **Olivier Fillieule et Philippe Blanchard** (2008). INdividual SUrvey in RAllies (INSURA). A New Tool for Exploring Transnational Activism.
- 34. **Johann Dupuis** (2008). Analyse politique des conditions de succès et d'échec des marchés de droits d'émissions.
- 33. **Dietmar Braun et Björn Uhlmann** (2007). Ideas and Power in Swiss Health Care Party Politics.
- 32. Fabrizio Gilardi, Katharina Füglister et Stéphane Luyet (2007). Learning from Others: The Diffusion of Hospital Financing Reforms in OECD Countries.
- 31. **Natalia Gerodetti** (2007). Enduring Legacies – Intersecting Discourses in the Context of Eugenics.
- 30. **Véronique Mottier** (2007). Meaning, Identity, Power : Metaphors and Discourse Analysis.
- 29. **Olivier Fillieule** (2007). On n'y voit rien ! Le recours aux sources de presse pour l'analyse des mobilisations protestataires.
- 28. **Kathrin Daepp** (2006). La re-régulation sélective de la finance internationale : l'initiative sur les pays ou territoires non-coopératifs du GAFI.
- 27. **Martino Maggetti** (2006). Assessing the De Facto Independence of Regulatory Agencies. The Case of the Swiss Federal Banking Commission in the 1990?
- 26. **Dietmar Braun** (2006). Modernising Federalism. Towards Convergence in the Organisation of Intergovernmental Relations?
- 25. **Fabrizio Gilardi** (2006). The Same, but Different. Central Banks, Regulatory Agencies, and the Politics of Delegation to Independent Authorities.
- 24. **Cécile Péchu** (2006). Entre résistance et contestation. La genèse du squat comme mode d'action.
- 23. **Sarah Gotheil** (2005) ACCOBAMS. Les pays de mer noire, méditerranée et zone atlantique adjacente s'unissent pour la protection des cétacés.
- 22. Gerhard Schnyder, Martin Lüpold, André Mach et Thomas David (2005) The Rise and Decline of the Swiss Company Network during the 20th Century.
- 21. **Aurélien Buffat** (2005) La mise en oeuvre de la réforme de l'armée suisse « Armée XXI » : les changements vécus à l'interne. Etude de cas des militaires

professionnels des écoles, hôpital de la place d'armes de Moudon.

- Léonard Rey (2005) La construction du marché intérieur suisse à la lumière de l'expérience européenne : centralité et intervention contrastée des Hautes Cours dans les processus d'intégration économique.
- 19. **Patrick Csikos** (2005) Emergence d'une nouvelle gouvernance internationale privée/publique : les cas des agences de notation financière et des normes comptables.
- Michael Voegtli (2004) Entre paternalisme et Etat social. Le cas de la fabrique de chocolat Suchard (1870-1940).
- 17. **Luca Chinotti** (2004) Les effets de l'Accord sur l'Agriculture de l'Uruguay Round sur les pays en développement. Une entrave ou une opportunité pour le développement?.
- Alexandre Afonso (2004) Internationalisation, économie et politique migratoire dans la Suisse des années 1990.
- 15. **Nicolas Freymond** (2003) La question des institutions dans la science politique contemporaine: l'exemple du néo-institutionnalisme.
- 14. **Yves Steiner** (2003) Le coût réel de l'indépendance de la banque centrale: économie politique comparée de la Deutsche Bundesbank et de la Banque du Japon dans les années soixante-dix.
- 13. **Dietmar Braun** (1999) Toward a heuristic framework of the Territorial division of Power in comparative public Policy research.

- 12. **Dietmar Braun** (1998) Bringing State structures back in: The Significance of Political Arena's in Political Decisionmaking.
- 11. **Daniel Kübler** (1996) Neighbourhood conflicts and dialogues.
- André Mach (1995) Représentation des intérêts et capacité d'adaptation de l'économie suisse.
- 9. **Yves Sancey** (1995) Le Gentlemen's agreement de 1927. Lutte autour de la (non-)politisation de l'exportation du capital.
- 8. **Daniel Kübler** (1993) L'Etat face à la toxicomanie, action publique et contrat social.
- 7. **Jean-Philippe Leresche** (1993) Les transformations du pouvoir local en Suisse.
- Bernard Voutat (1993) Les minorités territoriales, quelques considérations théoriques.
- 5. **Bernard Voutat** (1992) Les origines sociales de la "question jurassienne".
- 4. **Daniel-Louis Seiler** (1991) Le cas des partis politiques dans les nouvelles démocraties de l'Est européen.
- 3. **Silvia Kobi** (1991) Les "Neinsager" dans le processus référendaire suisse: des variations sur un thème mythique.
- 2. **Ioannis Papadopoulos** (1991) La Suisse: un "Sonderfall" pour la théorie politique?

Nadia Spang (1991) Scholarly View of Japan throughout the XXth Century. Shahrokh Vaziri (1990) Eléments de réflexion sur les partis politiques et références idéologiques dans le Tiers Monde.